
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

City Council Meeting  

City Council Chambers 

145 West Broad Street 

Spartanburg, SC  29306 

Monday, October 14, 2019 

 

I. Moment of Silence  

 

II. Pledge of Allegiance  

         

III. Approval of the Minutes of the September 23, 2019 City Council Meeting 
 

IV. Approval of the Agenda of the October 14, 2019 City Council Meeting 

                                                                              

V.  Public Comment 
 *Citizen Appearance forms are available at the door and should be submitted to the City Clerk 

 

VI.  Recognition of Graduates of City of Spartanburg Citizens Academy 

Presenter:  Kathy Hill, Community Services Coordinator 

 

VII.  Ordinances 

 

A. Authorizing the City Manager to Execute an Agreement for the Sale of Several 

Properties Located in the Mid-Towne Heights Neighborhood (First Reading) 

Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 

 

B. To Amend Chapter 16, Streets and Sidewalks, Article I, in General, Section 16-

12, Picketing or Patrolling, of the Code of the City of Spartanburg, South 

Carolina, 1988, to Modify Requirements for and Advance Notice of Pickets of a 

Certain Size, to Prohibit Certain Items in the Location of Pickets, and to 

Regulate the Size and Material of Signs Utilized During Picketing Activities 

(First Reading) 

Presenter:  Robert Coler, City Attorney 

 

VIII.  Declaration of Vacancies on Planning Commission and Design Review Board 

Presenter: Connie McIntyre, City Clerk   

 

IX. City Council Updates 

 

X. Executive Sessions 
 

A. Executive Session Pursuant to Section 30-4-70 (a) (5) of the South Carolina 

Code to Discuss Matters Relating to an Economic Development Project 

 

 

  

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 
                                          SOUTH CAROLINA 

As required by the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Spartanburg will provide interpretive services for the City Council 

Meetings. Requests must be made to the Communications & Marketing Office (596-2020) 24 hours in advance of the meeting. This is a 

Public Meeting and notice of the meeting was posted with the Media 24 hours in advance according to the Freedom of Information Act. 

 

 

 

 



  

* Non-Agenda Items 

  City Code Sec. 2-57. Citizen Appearance. Any citizen of the City of  Spartanburg may speak at a regular meeting on any matter   

  pertaining to City Services and operations germane to items within the purview and authority of City Council, except personnel  

  matters, by signing a Citizen’s Appearance form prior to the meeting stating the subject and purpose for speaking. No item  

  considered by Council within the past twelve (12) months may be added as an agenda item other than by decision of City  

  Council. The forms may be obtained from the Clerk and maintained by the same. Each person who gives notice may speak at the  

  designated time and will be limited to a two (2) minute presentation. 

 

 *Agenda Items 

  City Code Sec. 2-56. Addressing Council, Comments or Remarks to Council on Agenda Items Not Requiring Public Hearing. On    

  agenda items not requiring a Public Hearing, please provide to the City Clerk prior to the opening of the meeting, your desire to  

  speak on an agenda item. Remarks shall be limited to five (5) minutes and total remarks on any agenda item shall not exceed  

  twenty (20) minutes. 

 

 

 

                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Executive Session Pursuant to Section 3-4-40(2) Concerning a Personnel  Matter 

Related to Annual Review of City Manager 

 

Council may take action on matters discussed in Executive Session after exiting   

  Executive Session. 

 

XI.    Adjournment  

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 

City Council Agenda 
Page Two – October 14, 2019 



  

 

          
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

III.  



1 

 

 
City Council Meeting  

City Council Chambers 

145 West Broad Street 

Spartanburg, SC  29306 

Monday, September 23, 2019 

 

(These minutes are subject to approval at  

the October 14, 2019  City Council meeting.) 

 

City Council met this date with the following Councilmembers present: Mayor White, 

Mayor pro tem Alan Jenkins, Councilmembers Erica Brown, Jerome Rice, Ruth 

Littlejohn, Sterling Anderson and Jamie Fulmer. City Manager Chris Story and City 

Attorney Robert Coler were also in attendance. Notice of the meeting was posted with the 

Media 24 hours in advance according to the Freedom of Information Act. All City Council 

meetings are recorded for a complete transcript. 

 

I. Moment of Silence - observed  

 

II. Pledge of Allegiance - recited  

         

III. Approval of the Minutes of the September 9, 2019 City Council Meeting - 

Councilmember Brown made a motion to approve the minutes as received. 

Councilmember Littlejohn seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0. 
 

IV. Approval of the Agenda of the September 23, 2019 City Council Meeting – 

Mayor pro tem Jenkins made a motion to approve the agenda as received. 

Councilmember Rice seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0. 

                                                                              

V.  Public Comment 
 *Citizen Appearance forms are available at the door and should be submitted to the City Clerk 

1.  Jada Charley, 236 Union St. Spartanburg, SC, informed Council that October was  

      Domestic Violence Awareness month. 

2.  Dwight Smith, 128 Coastline Dr., Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

3.  Steve Wade, 78 Coastline Drive, Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

4.  James Sanders, 203 Pine Cove Drive, Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

5.  Matt Spencer, 712 Brown Arrow Circle, Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

6.  Melodie Fulbright, 140 Neal Pointe, Porter Shoals, voiced her concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

7.  Daniel Thornton, 124 Coastline Drive, Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 



2 

 

8.  Roger Tinsley, 708 Brown Arrow Circle, Inman, SC, voiced his concerns regarding  

     Spartanburg Water. 

9.  Larry Cook, 1103 Asheville Highway, Spartanburg, SC, voiced his concerns  

     regarding Spartanburg Water. 

 

VI.  Welcome and Introduction of Shaunte´ Evans, New CEO of Spartanburg Housing 

Authority 

Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 

Mr. Story highlighted Ms. Evans background and accomplishments, and introduced her 

to Council. 

 

VII. Presentation of National Night Out Proclamations 

           Presenter:  Mayor Junie White 

Mayor White presented National Night Out Proclamations to all neighborhood 

association representatives who were in attendance. 

 

VIII. Update from Spartanburg Water 

Presenters:  Chris Story, City Manager 

                      Newt Pressley, Chief Financial Officer  

Mr. Pressley updated Council on Spartanburg Water’s financial position and current 

projects. 

Council received the report as information. 

 

IX. Resolutions 

 

A. To Approve the Purchase of Parcel #7-12-09-245.00 (423 Carpenter Street) and 

Parcel #7-12-09-247.00 (408 Stevens Street) Spartanburg County, South 

Carolina (Hereinafter Called the “Properties”) 

Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 

                  Mr. Story presented the item to Council as follows: 

      “Among the projects to be funded with the Spartanburg County Capital Project Sales       

     Tax is a new headquarters for our Police Department.  After extensive evaluation of  

     various siting considerations and options, we recommend that the facility be located at  

     the northwest corner of W. Saint John Street and N. Forest Street.  Approval of the  

     attached resolution would authorize acquisition of properties which would be  

     combined with properties already owned by the City to create a site well suited for the  

     facility.  We envision a two story structure totaling approximately 45,000 square feet  

     to be situated at the corner with parking beside and to the rear of the structure.   

     Portions of Carpenter Street and Hunt Street will likely be closed to accommodate the  

     project, but we will ensure that all properties have appropriate vehicular access. 

                 The factors leading to our recommendation of this site include: 

 

- Quick access in all directions so that officers can reach all areas of the city within 

minutes. 

- Proximity to the planned Fire Department Headquarters where some shared 

equipment will be stored. 



3 

 

- Relatively low cost of site acquisition, enabling a higher percentage of the available 

funds to go directly into construction.  

- By moving the facility from the current City Hall block, we can maximize the reuse 

of that important downtown property. 

            We recommend your approval of the attached resolution and welcome any questions   

            you may have.” 

Councilmember Rice made a motion to approve the resolution as presented. 

Councilmember Brown seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0. 

 

B. To Authorize $200,000 in Capital Funds to Support the Development of a New 

Trail Segment Within Spartanburg’s Urban Trail Network Located Parallel to 

Vanderbilt Road and Fairforest Creek 

Presenter:  Mitch Kennedy, Assistant City Manager 

Mr. Kennedy presented the item to Council as follows: 

       “In recent years Partners for Active Living (PAL) has partnered with the City of   

                  Spartanburg, Spartanburg County Parks, and many other public and private groups to  

                  expand Spartanburg’s urban trails network. The next segment that is ready for  

                  construction is Vanderbilt Road, phase 1. This segment will be a critical link between  

                  the Downtown and Northside communities with the Westside of our City. 

 

                All necessary easements and engineering are complete.  PAL will manage and  

                implement the project.  They have procured Ray Lemons as the contractor, who also  

                completed the Drayton Trails and River Birch, phase 1. 

                This section of trail on the map (in pink below) is 1.2 miles with 0.5 miles being in the  

                City of Spartanburg and 0.7 miles in Spartanburg County only. 

                Total cost for this trail segment is $800,000. Mary Black Foundation has committed  

                $200,000. PAL is requesting $200,000 from the City of Spartanburg, and $400,000  

                from Spartanburg County Parks. 

                ACTION REQUESTED: Allocation of $200,000 in previously appropriated trails  

                funds to this project.  

    BUDGET AND FINANCIAL DATA: $200,000 from Capital Project –   

    GP1274.  These funds have been previously allocated to trails and appropriated into  

    this capital project – this action simply specifies which specific trail project.”  

Councilmember Littlejohn recused herself from the vote since she is a boardmember 

of Partners for Active Living. 

Mayor pro tem Jenkins made a motion to approve the resolution as presented. 

Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion, which carried unanimously                     

6 to 0. 

 

X. Consent Agenda  

 

A. Authorizing the Transfer of Certain Parcels of Real Property and 

Improvements Thereon Owned by the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina 

to the Spartanburg Recreational Facilities Corporation; the Acceptance of 

Grant Funds from the Northside Development Corporation, and the 

Granting of certain City Funds to the City of Spartanburg Development 



4 

 

Corporation, to Facilitate the Financing of the Construction of the TK Gregg 

Recreational Center; the Assignment of Engineering, Design and 

Construction Contracts Entered into by the City to the Spartanburg 

Recreational Facilities Corporation Facilities Corporation; the Execution of 

Certain Documents by the City in Connection with New Markets Tax Credits 

Financing Obtained by Spartanburg Recreational Facilities Corporation in 

Connection with the TK Gregg Recreational Center; the Amendment of the 

By Laws of Spartanburg Recreational Facilities Corporation; and Other 

Matters Relating Thereto (Second Reading) 

Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 

Mayor pro tem Jenkins made a motion to approve the consent agenda as 

presented on second reading. Councilmember Rice seconded the motion, which 

carried unanimously 7 to 0. 

 

XI. City Council Updates - Each Councilmember gave updates on their activities since 

 the previous council meeting. 

 

XI. Adjournment – Mayor pro tem Jenkins made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

           Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0.   

           The meeting adjourned at 7:16 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

              ___________________________ 

    Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk  

   

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VII. A   



REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL ACTION 

 

 
 

TO:  Chris Story, City Manager   

 

FROM: Martin Livingston, Neighborhood Services Director 
      

SUBJECT: Sale of Property – Mid-towne Heights 

 

DATE: October 14, 2019 

 

 

BACKGROUND:   
Staff is requesting approval for the City Manager to enter into an agreement for the sale of the 10 properties 

totaling approximately 25 acres located in the Mid-towne Heights Neighborhood at Wofford Street, subject 

to the completion of due diligence on the property. EquityPlus, LLC intends to purchase the Norris Ridge 

Apartments in the Highland Neighborhood from a private owner for the redevelopment of the site.  

EquityPlus, LLC will prepare development estimates and a concept for development prior to entering into a 

development agreement with the City of Spartanburg to replace 190 units that will be moved from Norris 

Ridge Apartments. EquityPlus, LLC is expected to complete due diligence within a year to develop the 

Mid-towne Heights property for affordable housing to serve families previously residing in the Norris 

Ridge Apartments. EquityPlus, LLC is expected to work with the Spartanburg Housing Authority to assist 

in relocation of tenants.  The demolition of Norris Ridge Apartments, like the Oakview Apartments for the 

Northside, will accomplish one of the Highland Neighborhood goals.  

 

The Mid-towne Heights development is one of three phases that will be completed over the next five years. 

The City will also request an easement for the extension of the Daniel Morgan Trail through the 

development. 

        

                                                                                                     

ACTION REQUESTED: Staff is requesting approval for the City Manager to enter into a property sale 

agreement that will allow EquityPlus, LLC to complete due diligence of the 

Mid-towne Heights properties, subject to a development agreement. 

 

 

BUDGET AND FINANCIAL DATA:    
Transfer Fees per property / Survey / Appraisal: $10,000 

 



 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER  

TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR THE SALE OF SEVERAL PROPERTIES 

LOCATED IN THE MID-TOWNE HEIGHTS NEIGHBORHOOD 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Members of Council of the City of Spartanburg, 

South Carolina, in Council assembled: 

 

Section 1. Approve and authorize the City manager to enter into a development agreement 

and option for the sale of vacant lots located at Block Map Numbers: 7-12-09, Parcel 

153.01; 7-12-09, Parcel 155.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 111.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 142.00; 7-12-09, 

Parcel 131.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 153.00; 7-11-12, Parcel 169.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 169.00; 7-

12-09, Parcel 141.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 119.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 113.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 

156.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 120.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 130.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 114.00; 7-12-09, 

Parcel 143.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 154.00; 7-12-09, Parcel 143.01; 7-12-09, Parcel 143.02. 7-

12-09, Parcel 142.00; and 7-12-09, Parcel 175.00. 

 

Section 2. The City of Spartanburg will enter into an option with EquityPlus, LLC for the 

sale and development of the property. 

 

Section 3. EquityPlus, LLC will complete its due diligence to determine the feasibility and 

development concept within one (1) year of approval of the option to sell. 

 

Section 4. The City Manager is authorized to sign necessary documents to execute this 

transaction. 

 

Section 5.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon the date of enactment. 

 

DONE AND RATIFIED this ____ day of October, 2019. 

 

 

   _________________________ 

   MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________ 

CITY CLERK 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

________________________________ 

Robert P. Coler, City Attorney 

 

 

___ /___ / ___ 1st Reading 

 

___ /___ / ___ 2nd Reading 





 

Page 1 of 15 

 

AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE 

 

THIS AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE (“Agreement”) dated as of September  ___, 

2019, between THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG, having an address at 145 West Broad Street, 

Spartanburg, SC 29306 (herein after the “Seller” and sometime “City”) and EquityPlus, LLC and 

or its Assigns having an address at 24851 Quimby Oaks Place, Aldie, Virginia  20105 (the 

“Purchaser”): 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, Seller has agreed to sell to Purchaser approximately 25 acres with multiple tax map 

numbers located in the City of Spartanburg, Spartanburg County, South Carolina. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 

hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION 

 

1.1 Definitions.  The following terms shall have the indicated meanings: 

 

 “Authorizations” shall mean all licenses, permits and approvals required by any 

governmental or quasi-governmental agency, body or officer for the ownership, operation and 

use of the Property or any part thereof, including, without limitation, all elevator and pool 

licenses required to operate the Property in its current manner. 

 

 “Closing” shall mean the closing of the purchase and sale of the Property pursuant to this 

Agreement.  The Closing shall take place on or before the Closing Date.  

 

 “Closing Date” The sales contemplated under Agreement would close, subject to 

extension as provided herein, thereafter, provided that all approvals, permits, and designs are 

finalized and approved by the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina and any and all other 

governmental agencies with jurisdiction but Closing Date will not extend beyond FORTY FIVE 

(45) calendar days from the end of the Due Diligence Period.   

  

 “Governmental Body” means any federal, state, municipal or other governmental 

department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign. 

 

 “Permitted Title Exceptions” shall mean: 

  

1. Applicable zoning ordinances. 

2. Ad valorem tax liability for the year of closing and future years.  

 

“Property” shall mean the real property and improvements thereon of approximately 25 

acres bearing various Tax Parcel Numbers located in Spartanburg County, South 



 

Page 2 of 15 

 

Carolina, such real property being more fully identified and described in Exhibit A and B 

attached hereto. 

 

 “Purchase Price” shall mean One Hundred and No/100 ($100.00) Dollars, payable in the 

manner described in this Agreement.  

 

1.2 Rules of Construction.  The following rules shall apply to the construction and 

interpretation of this Agreement: 

 

(a) Singular words shall connote the plural number as well as the singular and vice 

versa, and the masculine shall include the feminine and the neuter. 

 

 (b) All references herein to particular articles, sections, subsections, clauses or 

exhibits are references to articles, sections, subsections, clauses or exhibits of this Agreement. 

 

 (c) The headings contained herein are solely for convenience of reference and shall 

not constitute a part of this Agreement nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect. 

 

 (d) Each party hereto and its counsel, if any, have reviewed and revised (or requested 

revisions of) this Agreement, and therefore any usual rules of construction requiring that 

ambiguities are to be resolved against a particular party shall not be applicable in the 

construction and interpretation of this Agreement or any exhibits hereto. 

 

ARTICLE II 

PURCHASE AND SALE; DEPOSIT; PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE 

 

2.1 Purchase and Sale.  The Seller agrees to sell and the Purchaser agrees to purchase the 

Property for the Purchase Price and in accordance with the other terms and conditions set forth 

herein.   

 

2.2 Deposit. Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00).  

 

2.3 Due Diligence.  Purchaser shall have a period of THREE HUNDRED AND SIXTY (360) 

days from the date this Agreement is fully executed by the Seller and the Purchaser to examine 

the Property and the title to the Property, and to conduct such tests and investigations as 

Purchaser deems necessary including, but not limited to, environmental site assessments of the 

Property to determine whether or not the Property is satisfactory to Purchaser, in its sole 

discretion.  Purchaser may terminate this Agreement at any time during the due diligence period 

for any reason whatsoever by delivering written notice to that effect to Seller.  

 

2.4 Title Review.  Within THREE HUNDRED AND SIXTY (360) days from the date of this 

Agreement, the Purchaser shall examine title to the Property, and shall notify the Seller of any 

defects in title other than the Permitted Title Exceptions that the Purchaser is willing to accept.  

Within ten (10) days after such notification, the Seller shall notify the Purchaser whether the 

Seller is willing to cure such defects; the Seller’s failure to so notify the Purchaser shall be 

deemed to be the Seller’s refusal to cure all such defects.  If the Seller is willing to cure such 



 

Page 3 of 15 

 

defects, the Seller shall act promptly and diligently to cure such defects at its expense.  If such 

defects consist of deeds to secure debt, mechanics’ liens, tax liens or other liens or charges in a 

fixed sum, the Seller shall pay and/or discharge such defects at Closing.  If the Seller is unwilling 

or unable to cure any other such defects by Closing, the Purchaser shall elect (a) to waive such 

defects and proceed to Closing without any abatement in the Purchase Price or (b) to terminate 

this Agreement.  The Seller shall not, after the date of this Agreement, subject the Property to 

any liens, encumbrances, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements or other title matters or 

seek any zoning changes or take any other action which may affect or modify the status of title 

without the Purchaser’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld 

or delayed.  

 

2.5 Payment of Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price shall be paid at Closing.  

 

ARTICLE III 

SELLER’S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS 

 

In order to induce Purchaser to enter into this Agreement and to purchase the Property, in 

addition to warranties, representations, covenants, and undertakings contained elsewhere in this 

Agreement, Seller hereby makes the following representations, warranties and covenants, each of 

which is material and is relied upon by Purchaser: 

 

3.1 Authority of Seller.  Seller has the right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement 

and to sell the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof.  This Agreement, 

when executed and delivered by Seller, will be a valid and binding obligation of Seller in 

accordance with its terms. 

  

3.2 No Special Taxes.  The Property is not subject to special taxes or assessments for 

roadway, sewer, or water improvements or other public improvements. 

 

3.3 Options; Leases.  No options or other contracts have been granted or entered into which 

are still outstanding and which give any other party a right to purchase any interest in the 

Property or any part thereof.  There are no leases in effect with respect to all or any part of the 

Property. 

 

3.4 Condemnation Proceedings.  Intentionally Omitted  

 

3.5 Mechanic's Liens.  No payments for work, materials, or improvements furnished to the 

Property will be due or owing at Closing and no mechanic’s lien, materialman’s lien, or other 

similar lien shall be of record against the Property at the time of Closing. 

 

3.6 Pending Litigation.  There is no claim, litigation, or other proceeding, the probable 

outcome of which will have a material adverse effect on the value of the Property or its intended 

use pending or threatened before any court, commission, or other body or authority, and, further, 

Seller has not received written notification of any asserted failure of Seller or the Property to 

comply with applicable laws (whether statutory or not) or any rule, regulation, order, ordinance, 

judgment or decree of any federal, municipal or other governmental authority; provided, 



 

Page 4 of 15 

 

however, that this representation shall not apply to liability claims for which there is adequate 

and sufficient liability insurance. 

 

3.7 Flood Conditions.  Intentionally Omitted  

 

3.8 Hazardous Substances.  Any investigations relating to Hazardous substances or 

environment issues will be the Purchaser’s responsibility. 

 

3.9 No Defaults. Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby will: 

 

(a) Conflict with, or result in a breach of, the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or 

constitute a default under, any agreement or instrument to which Seller or any predecessor of 

Seller is a party, or; 

 

(b) Violate any restriction to which Seller is subject, or; 

 

(c) Constitute a violation of any applicable code, resolution, law, statute, regulation, 

ordinance, rule, judgment, decree, or order, or; 

 

(d) Result in the acceleration of any mortgage or note pertaining to the Property or 

the cancellation of any contract or lease pertaining to the Property, or; 

 

(e) Result in the creation of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any of the 

properties or assets to be sold or assigned to Purchaser pursuant to the provisions of this 

Agreement. 

 

3.10 Utilities.  Public sewer, public water facilities, natural gas, and electric power 

(collectively the "Utilities") are available to the Property.  The Utilities reach the property line of 

the Property through valid public or private easements or rights-of-way to which Purchaser shall 

have access. 

 

3.11 Title. Seller represents a good marketable and insurable fee simple title to the Property 

(at standard rates), by special warranty deed, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. 

 

3.12 Further Acts of Seller.  On or before the Closing, Seller will do, make, execute and 

deliver all such additional and further acts, deeds, instruments and documents as may be 

reasonably required by Purchaser's title insurance company completely to vest in and assure to 

Purchaser full rights in or to the Property. 

 

3.13 Brokerage Commission. The Seller and Purchaser both warrant that no real estate 

brokers are involved in procuring this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 15 

 

ARTICLE IV 

PURCHASER’S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS 

 

The Purchaser hereby makes the following representations, warranties and covenants with 

respect to the Property:   

 

4.1  Organization and Power.  Purchaser is a limited liability company, duly organized, and is 

validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, and has all 

corporate power and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to carry 

on its business as now conducted and to enter into and perform its obligations under this 

Agreement and any document or instrument required to be executed and delivered on behalf of 

the Purchaser hereunder. 

 

4.2 Authorization and Execution.  This Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary 

action on the part of the Purchaser, has been duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser, (and 

assuming that this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Seller) constitutes the 

valid and binding agreement of the Purchaser and is enforceable in accordance with its terms 

(except as enforcement may be limited by (and subject to) the provisions of the United States 

Bankruptcy Code and other applicable laws which affect the rights and remedies of creditors 

generally).  There is no other person or entity whose consent is required in connection with the 

Purchaser’s performance of its obligations hereunder. 

 

4.3 Noncontravention.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance 

by the Purchaser of its obligations hereunder do not and will not contravene, or constitute a 

default under, any provisions of applicable law or regulation, or any agreement, judgment, 

injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Purchaser or result in the creation 

of any lien or other encumbrance on any asset of the Purchaser. 

 

ARTICLE V 

CONDITIONS AND ADDITIONAL COVENANTS 

 

5.1 Purchaser’s Conditions.  The Purchaser’s obligations hereunder are subject to the 

satisfaction of the following conditions precedent and the compliance by the Seller with the 

following covenants: 

 

 (a) Seller’s Deliveries.  The Seller shall have delivered to the Escrow Agent or the 

Purchaser, as the case may be, on or before the date of Closing, all of the documents called for 

by Section 6.2 hereof. 

 

 (b) Representations, Warranties and Covenants; Obligations of Seller.  All of the 

Seller’s representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall be true and correct as of the 

date hereof and as of the date of Closing as if then made in all material respects, and the Seller 

shall have performed all of its covenants and other obligations under this Agreement.   

 

 (c) Title to Property.  The Seller is and shall at the Closing be the sole owner of the 

Property and shall hold good, fee simple, marketable, insurable at normal rates title to the 



 

Page 6 of 15 

 

Property, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, restrictions and conditions, except the 

Permitted Title Exceptions. 

 

 (d) Seller’s Cooperation.  Within FIVE (5) days following execution of this 

Agreement, Seller shall provide to Purchaser copies of all engineering reports, soil test reports, 

surveys, grading plans, permits, title insurance policies, lease agreements and other similar types 

of documents or agreements affecting the Property, if available, for Purchaser’s inspection.  In 

addition, Seller will permit Purchaser to have access to the Property in order to make all 

reasonable inspections it may desire.  Purchaser agrees to indemnify and hold Seller harmless 

from any and all costs, injuries, damages, expenses or claims incurred in relation to the 

inspections performed by the Purchaser. 

 

 (e) Leases.  If the Property or any portion thereof is subject to existing lease 

agreements, such lease agreements shall be terminated, at Seller’s sole cost, as of the date of 

Closing. Seller must disclose to Purchaser any existing leases agreements within FIFTEEN (15) 

days of the execution of this Agreement of Purchase and Sale.  

   

 (f) Zoning.  In the event that the Property must be rezoned, or any use permits must 

be obtained, in order for the Property to be developed for the Purchaser’s intended use, the final 

approval of the necessary zoning amendments and/or use permits must be obtained from the 

appropriate Governmental Body.  Purchaser responsible for any rezoning request and expenses 

for the same.  The Due Diligence Period provided for in Section 2.3 of this Agreement shall be 

extended as a result of any application for rezoning or a use permit as set forth in that section. 

 

 (g) Moratorium on Development.  No moratorium or proceeding shall be pending or 

threatened (i) affecting the availability at regular rates and connection fees of sewer, water, 

electric, gas, telephone or other utilities intended to serve the Property; (ii) affecting building 

permits or other municipal approvals required in connection with the development and 

construction of Purchaser's proposed improvements (if any) for the Property; or (iii) voiding or 

suspending any of the items described in (i) or (ii) above, which may have been issued to 

Purchaser. 

 

 (h) Environmental Study. The Purchaser may contract with a licensed environmental 

engineer to confirm that the Property is free from environmental contamination (the 

“Environmental Assessments”).  Such right includes a Phase I and Phase II study and should the 

results of the Phase I produce findings that in the engineer’s opinion suggests further study, then 

Purchaser may conduct a Phase II study.  If the results of any Environmental Assessment 

produce negative findings, then the Purchaser may terminate this Agreement by giving written 

notice thereof to Seller, in which event this Agreement shall terminate and Escrow Agent shall 

immediately return the Earnest Money to the Purchaser as full liquidated damages.   

 

(i)  Roof Replacement. Intentionally omitted.  

 

(j) Tax Credits.  Where applicable, Seller agrees to cooperate with the Purchaser in 

all reasonable respects in order to assist with these various credits; including issuing necessary 

ordinances and/or certifications.   



 

Page 7 of 15 

 

 

(k) Development Agreement. The Purchaser agrees to enter into a development 

agreement prior to closing, said development agreement subject to Spartanburg City Council 

approval, for the development of the Property. The initial intent of the development agreement 

will be: 

(i) For Purchaser to construct 190 residential units as replacement housing for 

residents of the Norris Ridge Apartments, said Norris Ridge Apartments and 

property to be obtained by Purchaser in a separate, preceding transaction; and  

(ii) For Purchaser to also construct a yet to be determined number of additional 

“workforce housing” residences to serve families of up to 120% of AMI on the 

remaining portion of the property by year 2025.  The number of workforce 

housing residences will be negotiated, in good faith, by Seller and Purchaser 

based upon community development needs of the City and market demand; and; 

(iii) For City and Purchaser to jointly seek subordinate financing to help facilitate 

the development of the above noted 190 residential units; and 

(iv) For Purchaser to assure Seller that every resident at Norris Ridge Apartments, 

who is in compliance with their lease at the time of completion of construction on 

the Property, has the right and opportunity to move to one of the above noted 190 

residential units; and 

(v) City and Purchaser agree to seek additional resources to support relocation of 

eligible tenants at the Norris Ridge Apartments with the support of local 

community partner organizations; and 

(vi) Purchaser agrees to provide an easement for the extension of the Daniel 

Morgan Trail through the Property, and 

(vii)   For Purchaser to assure Seller that it will  

(1) Demolish the Norris Ridge Apartment site within twelve (12) months 

following completion of construction on the Property, and 

(2) Work with Spartanburg Housing Authority to redevelop the Norris 

Ridge Apartment site (including converting portable Section 8 voucher to 

project based Section 8 vouchers to enable financing of any development 

on the Norris Ridge Apartment site), and  

(3) Place reasonable covenants, acceptable to City, on the Norris Ridge 

Apartment site to facilitate its redevelopment; and 

(viii) For Purchaser to acknowledge that Seller places great value on community 

input and any development on either site (the “Property” or the Norris Ridge 

Apartment site) will be subject to neighborhood review and discussion. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

CLOSING 

 

6.1 Closing.  Closing shall be held in the offices of the Escrow Agent, or at a location that is 

mutually acceptable to the parties, on the Closing Date.  The parties agree that Closing may be 

transacted by mail. 

 



 

Page 8 of 15 

 

6.2 Seller’s Deliveries.  At Closing, the Seller shall deliver to Purchaser all of the following 

instruments, each of which shall have been duly executed and, where applicable, acknowledged 

on behalf of the Seller: 

 

 (a) A General Warranty Deed conveying fee simple title to the Property free and 

clear of all liens, encumbrances, and leases, except for Permitted Title Exceptions. 

 

 (b) A Closing Statement setting forth all financial matters related to the Closing. 

 

 (c) Any affidavits of title, possession, or other matters which may be required by a 

title insurance company insuring Purchaser’s title to the Property, a FIRPTA Certificate, a Tax 

Proration Agreement, any environmental affidavits and indemnity agreements required by the 

closing attorney, a gap indemnity agreement, and other normal closing certificates and affidavits. 

 

6.3 Purchaser’s Deliveries.  At Closing, the Purchaser shall pay or deliver to the Seller the 

following: 

 

(a) The Purchase Price. 

 

(b) A Closing Statement. 

 

(c) A Tax Proration Agreement. 

 

6.4 Mutual Deliveries.  At Closing, the Purchaser and the Seller shall mutually execute and 

deliver each to the other such other and further documents as may be reasonably required by 

either party hereto or their respective counsel. 

 

6.5 Closing Costs.  Except as is otherwise provided in this Agreement, each party hereto shall 

pay its own legal fees and expenses.   

  

6.6 Property Taxes.  Purchaser is responsible for all taxes as of midnight of the day of the 

closing. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

TERMINATION RIGHTS 

 

7.1 Termination by Purchaser.  If, prior to Closing, the Seller defaults in performing any of 

its obligations under this Agreement, and the Seller fails to cure any such matter within TEN 

(10) business days after notice thereof from the Purchaser, the Purchaser, at its option, may elect 

to terminate this Agreement whereupon the Escrow Agent shall return the Deposit to Purchaser; 

which is Purchaser’s sole remedy. 

 

7.2 Termination by Seller.  If, prior to Closing, the Purchaser defaults in performing any of 

its obligations under this Agreement (including its obligation to purchase the Property), and the 

Purchaser fails to cure any such default within TEN (10) business days after notice (with no cure 



 

Page 9 of 15 

 

period for failure to close the purchase of the Property) thereof from the Seller, then the Seller 

may terminate this Agreement and retain the Deposit as Seller’s sole remedy. 

7.3 Subject to City Council Approval.  This Agreement is subject to approval, by ordinance, 

upon two readings by Spartanburg City Council.  Seller may terminate this agreement at any 

time, for any reason, prior to said approval. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

8.1 Completeness; Modification.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 

the parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and supersedes all prior 

discussions, understandings, agreements and negotiations between the parties hereto.  Only a 

written instrument duly executed by the parties hereto may modify this Agreement. 

 

8.2 Assignments.  The Purchaser shall not have the right to assign this Agreement to any 

affiliate without the prior written consent of the Seller, except that Purchaser may assign this 

Agreement, without Seller consent, to an entity or limited partnership that is an affiliate of 

Purchaser.  Seller may not assign its rights under this Agreement. 

   

8.3 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties 

hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

 

8.4 Days.  If any action is required to be performed, or if any notice, consent or other 

communication is given, on a day that is a Saturday or Sunday or a legal holiday in the 

jurisdiction in which the action is required to be performed or in which is located the intended 

recipient of such notice, consent or other communication, such performance shall be deemed to 

be required, and such notice, consent or other communication shall be deemed to be given, on 

the first business day following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.  Unless otherwise 

specified herein, all references herein to a “day” or “days” shall refer to calendar days and not 

business days. 

 

8.5 Governing Law.  This Agreement and all documents referred to herein shall be governed 

by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

 

8.6 Counterparts.  To facilitate execution, this Agreement may be executed in as many 

counterparts as may be required.  It shall not be necessary that the signature on behalf of both 

parties hereto appear on each counterpart hereof.  All counterparts hereof shall collectively 

constitute a single agreement. 

 

8.7 Severability.  If any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement, or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the 

remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term, covenant or condition to other 

persons or circumstances, shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant or condition of 

this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 



 

Page 10 of 15 

 

 

8.8 Costs.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each party hereto shall be 

responsible for its own costs in connection with this Agreement and the transactions 

contemplated hereby, including without limitation fees of attorneys, engineers and accountants.   

 

8.9 Escrow Agent.   

   

 (a) The Escrow Agent shall hold the Deposit in escrow in a separate segregated bank 

account (or as otherwise agreed in writing by the Seller and the Purchaser) until the Closing or 

sooner termination hereof and shall pay over or apply such proceeds in accordance with the 

terms of this Section.   

 

 (b) If for any reason Closing does not occur and either party makes a written demand 

upon the Escrow Agent for payment or delivery of the Deposit, the Escrow Agent shall give 

written notice to the other party of such demand.  If the Escrow Agent does not receive a written 

objection from the other party to the proposed payment within TEN (10) business days after the 

giving of such notice, the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized to make such payment.  If the 

Escrow Agent does receive such written objection within such TEN (10)-day period or if for any 

other reason the Escrow Agent in good faith shall elect not to make such payment, the Escrow 

Agent shall continue to hold the Deposit until otherwise directed by written instructions from the 

parties hereto or a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, which by lapse of time or 

otherwise, shall no longer be or shall not be subject to appeal or reversal.  The Escrow Agent 

shall, however, have the right at any time to file a suit with a court of competent jurisdiction and 

to deliver or pay the Deposit to such court (or an officer thereof).  The Escrow Agent shall give 

written notice of such deposit to the Seller and the Purchaser.  Upon such deposit, the Escrow 

Agent shall be relieved of and discharged from all further obligations and responsibilities 

hereunder.  

 

 (c) The parties acknowledge that the Escrow Agent is acting at their request and 

convenience and solely as a stakeholder, that the Escrow Agent shall not be deemed to be the 

agent of either of the parties and that the Escrow Agent shall not be liable to either of the parties 

for any act or omission on its part unless taken or suffered in bad faith, in willful disregard of this 

contract or involving gross negligence.  The Seller and the Purchaser hereby jointly and severally 

indemnify and hold the Escrow Agent harmless from and against all liabilities, costs, claims and 

expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with the performance by 

the Escrow Agent of its duties hereunder, except with respect to actions or omissions taken or 

suffered by the Escrow Agent in bad faith, in willful disregard of this Agreement or involving 

gross negligence on the part of the Escrow Agent. 

 

 (d) The Escrow Agent may seek the advice of legal counsel in the event of any 

dispute or question as to the construction of any of the provisions of this Section 8.9 of this 

Agreement or its duties hereunder, and it shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected in 

respect of any action taken, omitted or suffered by it in good faith in accordance with the advice 

of such counsel. 

 



 

Page 11 of 15 

 

 (e) The Escrow Agent may resign at any time upon THIRTY (30) days prior written 

notice.  In the case of Escrow Agent’s resignation, the Escrow Agent’s only duty, until a 

successor escrow agent shall have been appointed jointly by the Seller and the Purchaser and 

shall have accepted such appointment, shall be to hold and dispose of the Deposit in accordance 

with the provisions contained in this Agreement (but without regard to any notices, requests, 

instructions or demands received by the Escrow Agent from the Seller and/or the Purchaser after 

its notice of resignation shall have been given, unless the same shall be a direction by both the 

Seller and the Purchaser that the entire balance of the Deposit be delivered out of escrow). 

 

8.10 Notices.  All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in 

writing and shall be delivered by hand, sent prepaid by Federal Express (or a comparable 

overnight delivery service) or sent by the United States mail, certified, postage prepaid, return 

receipt requested, at the addresses and with such copies as designated below:   

 

If to the Seller:  The City of Spartanburg 

    145 West Broad Street 

    Spartanburg, SC 29306  

    Attention: Martin L. Livingston, Jr.  

    Phone: (864) 580-5323 

    Email: mlivingston@cityofspartanburg.org 

 

If to the Purchaser:  EquityPlus, LLC 

    Attention: Avi Fechter 

    24851 Quimby Oaks Place 

Aldie, Virginia  20105 

Phone: (202) 236-4402 

Email: afechter@equityplusllc.com 

 

With a copy to:  Scott Fireison 

    Pepper Hamilton LLP 

    2000 K St., NW – suite 600 

    Washington, DC 20006 

    202-220-1572 

    fireisons@pepperlaw.com 

  

or to such other address as the intended recipient may have specified in a notice to the other 

party.  Any party hereto may change its address or designate different or other persons or entities 

to receive copies by notifying the other party and the Escrow Agent in a manner described in this 

Section.  Any notice, request, demand or other communication delivered or sent in the manner 

aforesaid shall be deemed given or made (as the case may be) when actually delivered, if 

delivered by hand, one (1) day after sending, if sent by overnight delivery service, or three (3) 

days after sending, if sent by certified mail.  The respective attorney of each party may give 

notices on behalf of that party under this Agreement with the same effect as though such notices 

were given by the respective party.   

 



 

Page 12 of 15 

 

8.11 Incorporation by Reference.  All of the exhibits attached hereto are by this reference 

incorporated herein and made a part hereof. 

 

8.12 Further Assurances.  The Seller and the Purchaser each covenant and agree to sign, 

execute and deliver, or cause to be signed, executed and delivered, and to do or make, or cause to 

be done or made, upon the written request of the other party, any and all agreements, 

instruments, papers, deeds, acts or things, supplemental, confirmatory or otherwise, as may be 

reasonably required by either party hereto for the purpose of or in connection with 

consummating the transactions described herein. 

 

 8.13 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to every provision hereof. 

 

8.14 Survival.  The provisions of this Article VIII shall survive the Closing or earlier 

termination of this Agreement. 

 

8.15 Section 1031 Exchange.  In the event that Purchaser elects to effectuate a Section 1031 

exchange in connection with the purchase of the Property contemplated in this Contract, the 

other Seller agrees to cooperate with the Purchaser to enable it to accomplish such exchange, so 

long as the cooperating party shall not be put to any additional expense or liability on account of 

the same. 

 

8.16 Expiration. This Agreement, when executed by one of the parties and submitted to the 

other, will constitute an offer, which shall be deemed to expire if not accepted by the other party 

(evidenced by full execution of this Agreement) not later than five (5) days after execution and 

submittal of this Agreement by one party and submitted to the other party.  

 

 

 

  

 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

  



 

Page 13 of 15 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Seller and the Purchaser have caused this Agreement to be 

executed in their names by their respective duly-authorized representatives. 

 

       SELLER: THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG  

 

        

       By: _____________________________  

 

       Its: ______________________________  

       

        

 

___________________________________ 

Witness 

 

___________________________________ 

Witness 

 

       PURCHASER: 

 

EquityPlus, LLC and or its Assigns 

 

 

       By: _______________________________   

 

       Its:  _______________________________  

        

 

___________________________________ 

Witness 

 

___________________________________ 

Witness  

 

  

  



 

Page 14 of 15 

 

EXHIBIT A 

MAP OF PROPERTY 

 
  



 

Page 15 of 15 

 

EXHIBIT B 

LIST OF PROPERTIES 

 

 

Property Owner Parcel ID Property Condition Property Address 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-153.01 Vacant Land 0 PILGRIM ALY 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-155.00 Vacant Land 1 PILGRIM ALY 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-111.00 Vacant Land 571 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-142.00 Vacant Land 484 PILGRIM ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-131.00 Vacant Land 523 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-153.00 Vacant Land 275 PILGRIM ALY 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-11-12-169.00 Vacant Land 583 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-169.00 Vacant Land 242 N THOMPSON ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-141.00 Vacant Land 480 PILGRIM ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-119.00 Vacant Land 288 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-113.00 Vacant Land 561 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-156.00 Vacant Land 481 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-120.00 Vacant Land 276 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-130.00 Vacant Land 531 WOFFORD ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-114.00 Vacant Land 0 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-143.00 Vacant Land 263 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-154.00 Vacant Land 277 PILGRIM ALY 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-143.01 Vacant Land 253 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-143.02 Vacant Land 243 HINES ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-142.00 Vacant Land 484 PILGRIM ST 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 7-12-09-175.00 Vacant Land 459 WOFFORD ST 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

VII. B  



    REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL ACTION 
 
 
 

TO:  Chris Story, Manager       

 

FROM: Robert P. Coler, City Attorney 
      

SUBJECT: Ordinance Amending Chapter 16, Article I, Section 12 “Picketing and Patrolling” 

  

DATE: October 7, 2019 

   
 

BACKGROUND:     Upon review of the City’s current Picketing and Patrolling Ordinance, I am 

recommending an update to provide a more comprehensive process to better inform and assist those 

wishing to express their First Amendment rights, citizens in general, and city staff (including 

Spartanburg Police Department) of their respective rights and obligations regarding picketing and 

associated activities.  The proposed Ordinance reflects current case law and trends across the 

country pertaining to pickets, protests, free expression of speech, and the like.       

 

 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Council is being asked to provide first reading approval of the proposed 

Ordinance to amend Chapter 16, Article 1, Section 12 in its entirety. 
 
 

BUDGET AND FINANCIAL DATA:  N/A 



AN ORDINANCE 
 

TO AMEND CHAPTER 16, STREETS AND SIDEWALKS, ARTICLE I, 

IN GENERAL, SECTION 16-12, PICKETING OR PATROLLING, OF 

THE CODE OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA, 

1988 TO MODIFY REQUIREMENTS FOR ADVANCE NOTICE OF 

PICKETS OF A CERTAIN SIZE, TO PROHIBIT CERTAIN ITEMS IN 

THE LOCATION OF PICKETS, AND TO REGULATE THE SIZE AND 

MATERIAL OF SIGNS UTILIZED DURING PICKETING ACTIVITIES. 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 16 of the Code of the City of Spartanburg provides for the 

regulation of picketing and patrolling activity in the city of Spartanburg; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has a long standing history of recognizing and respecting the First 

Amendment rights of all citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City may, consistent with the United States Constitution, enact 

reasonable regulations that balance First Amendment rights with the City’s  substantial 

and legitimate interest in ensuring public safety and order; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Council finds that pickets have the potential to impede the orderly 

flow of pedestrian traffic and lead to concerns regarding traffic and public safety, 

particularly in congested sidewalks and rights-of-ways; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Police Department (SPD) employs approximately 124 sworn 

officers, when fully staffed, and serves a city with a population of over 35,000 residents; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, SPD serves a city whose population swells with visitors on nights and 

weekends; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is reasonable to take these manpower obligations and limitations into 

account when determining SPD’s ability to plan for pickets, and allocate resources and 

assign officers to picket locations; and 

 

WHEREAS, common sense observations of protests across the country and SPD’s 

experience logically leads to the reasonable conclusion that for larger events there 

should be more advance notice required; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Council has drawn its regulations with the acknowledgment that these 

regulations must be content-neutral; and 



WHEREAS, this Ordinance is not intended to impermissibly limit an individual’s right 

to exercise free speech; rather it aims to impose specific time, place and manner 

restrictions on picketing and associated conduct in certain limited circumstances;  

    

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA, IN COUNCIL 

ASSEMBLED, Chapter 16, Streets and Sidewalks,  Article I, In General, Section 16-12, Picketing 

or Patrolling, of the Code of the City of Spartanburg,, South Carolina, 1988 is stricken in its 

entirety and replaced with that language in the attached Exhibit.  This Ordinance shall become 

effective upon the second and final reading by City  Council. 

  

DONE AND RATIFIED this _____ day of ____________________, 2019. 

           

    Junie L. White, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 ________________________________ 

Robert P. Coler, City Attorney 

 

 

       /       /            1st Reading 

       /       /            2nd Reading 



Exhibit A. 

 

 

  

 

 (a)  Conduct of picketing; penalty. For purposes of this section, picketing means an 

organized effort to express publicly a point of view at a given place with signs, oral statements, 

or the like in a systematic manner, which involves walking or standing in the same area for a 

prolonged period of time. Peaceful picketing in the furtherance of a lawful purpose shall be 

allowed in the city, provided the picketing is done under the following conditions: 

 

 (1)  Picketing may be conducted only on the sidewalks, on the grounds of a city-

controlled park or plaza, or in other city-owned areas or rights-of-way normally used or 

reserved for pedestrian movement, and may not be conducted on the portion of a street used 

primarily for vehicular traffic. 

 

 (2)  Such picketers must provide notice as required under subsection 16-12(b). 

 

 (3) Such picketers may carry written or printed signs (which such term shall be 

interpreted to include flags), provided the signs do not interfere with the free use of the sidewalk 

or rights-of-way by other pedestrians. Such signs, with reasonable use, shall be deemed to 

comply if they are composed of paper, cardboard, poster board, cloth, vinyl, or similarly non-

rigid material; do not exceed 1/32 inches in thickness; do not exceed 20 inches by 30 inches or 

600 square inches in the case of signs composed of paper, cardboard, poster board, or similar 

material; and do not exceed four feet by six feet in the case of signs composed of cloth, vinyl, 

or a similar material. Signs exceeding these dimensions are presumed threats to safety.  

 

 (4)  Such picketers on sidewalks or on right-of-way normally used or reserved for 

pedestrian movement must march or stand single file and not congregate so as to block any 

sidewalk, driveway, or business entrance. All laws pertaining to the orderly flow of pedestrians 

must be obeyed. 

 

 (5)  For public safety reasons, the following are prohibited in the immediate proximity 

of pickets, and due notice shall be included in every receipt of notice of intent to picket that 

these restrictions apply: 

 

  (i)Open flames and combustible solids; 

  (ii)Sticks, poles, selfie sticks, or other similar elongated solid objects capable  

  of inflicting bodily harm as a striking or stabbing object, excluding  

  commercially  available corrugated cardboard tubing as the supporting article  

  for signs, flags, and the like; 



  (iii)Backpacks, satchels, bags, coolers, or similar personally carried containers 

  exceeding six inches by eight inches by three inches, except when said  

  container is completely clear and see through; 

  (iv)Any firearm or ammunition except as permitted by the South Carolina  

  Code of Laws; 

  (v)Any mechanical or handmade contrivance that launches any projectile of  

  solid, liquid, or gaseous composition, including aerosols/pressurized canisters; 

  (vi)Any stabbing, cutting, slicing, or striking blade, whether of metal or other 

  solid composition; 

  (vii)Any striking object, such as a bat, stick, brass knuckles, martial arts  

  weapons, implement handles and the like, which would inflict bodily injury;  

  (viii)Any facial mask, headgear, or cloth worn over any portion of the face  

  which prevents facial identification of a person; 

  (ix)Any carried object that resembles or serves the purpose of a shield; 

  (x)Any armor or defensive covering that resembles or serves the purpose of  

  defensive body armor; 

  (xi)Carried signage exceeding the size restrictions set forth in   

  subsection 16-12 (a)(3); and 

  (xii)Bicycles, automobiles, and mopeds. 

  (xiii) Any device, electronic or mechanical, used to amplify sound 

  

This subsection shall not apply to law enforcement officers while in the discharge of their duties. 

 (6)   Picketing done contrary to this section shall be unlawful, and each individual in 

violation shall be subject to a fine of up to $50.00 for the first offense, and a fine of up to 

$100.00 for the second and subsequent offenses within a period of two years. 

 

 (b)Notice. 

  

 (1)  A notice of intent to picket must be submitted to the city manager or his designee 

in a form approved by the city manager and in accordance with the time limits and guidelines 

established in Table 16-12.1. The city manager shall make the notice of intent to picket form 

available online, and at multiple locations throughout the city, including city hall and the police 

department. The notice shall include the following information: 

   

  (i)  The name, address, and contact telephone number of the organizer of the  

  picket; 

  (ii) The name, address, and contact telephone number of the person who will  

  carry the receipt of notice if different from the organizer; 

  (iii) The location where the picket is to take place; 

  (iv) The date and time the picket will begin and end; and 



  (v) The anticipated number of participants and the basis on which this estimate 

  is made. 

 

 (2) Upon notice of intent to picket given in accordance with subsection 16-12(b), the 

city manager or his designee shall immediately issue a receipt of notice. If notice is submitted 

for the same date, time, and location as a notice for which a receipt has already been issued, the 

receipt shall be issued for a location as close as reasonably possible to the location set forth in 

the notice. The receipt shall contain all information stated in the notice. The organizer of a 

picket, or the person designated in the notice as the one who will carry the receipt of notice, 

shall be responsible for maintaining the receipt and shall present it when so requested by a law 

enforcement officer or other city official. 

 

 (3) Spontaneous pickets which are occasioned by news or affairs coming into public 

knowledge less than 48 hours prior to such picket may be conducted on the sidewalk in front 

of city hall without the organizer(s) first having to provide notice under this subsection. In the 

event the sidewalk area cannot safely accommodate the number of persons assembled, a shift 

commander or supervisor of the police department of the city shall direct the picketers to a 

suitable alternate location. 

 

 (c) Interference with pickets. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere physically 

with such pickets in the use of the sidewalk or address profane, indecent, abusive or threatening 

language to or at such pickets or others to breach the peace. 

 

 (d) Crowd dispersal. A shift commander or supervisor of the police department of the 

city may, in the event of the assemblage of persons in such numbers as to tend to intimidate 

picketers pursuing their lawful objective through numbers alone or through use of inflammatory 

words or threatening gestures that are ordinarily used to intimidate people, direct the dispersal 

of persons so assembled, and any police officer may arrest any person who fails to leave the 

place of assemblage when so directed by the police. 

 

 (e) Restrictions. Persons engaging in picketing activity cannot do so inside an area 

designated as an event area for which a permit has been granted to another individual or group 

under this article, if the picketing behavior has the effect of interfering with, hampering, 

hindering, or getting in the way of those participating in the permitted event in accordance with 

its purposes or with the general public making use of the space for its ordinary and customary 

purposes. Whenever any police officer or municipal employee charged with monitoring or 

supervising event activity determines the picketing behavior is interfering with, hampering, 

hindering, or getting the way of others as provided in this section, then the officer or employee 

may direct the picketers to relocate to other public space in reasonable proximity where such 

conduct can continue, if lawful, so long as the picketing does not interfere with, hamper, hinder, 

or get in the way of persons participating in the event for its intended purposes or of members 

of the general public making use of the public space for its ordinary and customary purposes.  

 

 



Table 16- 12.1 - Picketing Table. 

An organizer of a picket that the organizer knows or should reasonably know will be by a group 

of a size set forth in this table shall give at least the corresponding minimum advance notice of 

intent to picket set forth in this table to the city manager or his designee. 

 

 

Group Size 
 

Minimum Advance Notice Required 

1-10 
 

24 hours 

10-50    48 hours 

51-100 
 

72 hours 

101-200 
 

96 hours 

201-400 
 

5 calendar days 

Greater than 400 
 

7 calendar days 

 


